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park principles, as outlined by the CPA, connecting residents to parks by way of wide 

parkways.
21

 

 
Figure 61. The Smedley Atlas of Philadelphia, 1910. The boulevard is shown stretching from Hunting Park (green space in the lower 

left) to Tacony Creek Park (green space in center left). From there, the boulevard meanders across the grid until it reaches Pennypack 

Park (green space in upper right). (The Athenaeum of Philadelphia). 

                                                 
21 Sixteenth Annual Report of the CPA, 11-12. 
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Rather than turning their attention to rectifying the ills associated with older, 

densely populated areas along the Delaware, the CPA and the commission actually 

controlled development of the built environment in the Northeast. The Boulevard would 

break across the grid and private property in a meandering fashion. Only railroads needed 

to be crossed, but park planners had plenty of experience dealing with railroads as rail 

lines existed in Fairmount Park proper prior to the park‟s acquisition in the 1860s. 

 Mass transit determined much of the development of North and West 

Philadelphia, with such figures as P.A.B. Widener who made a fortune by purchasing 

land, laying out trolley lines, and therefore developing these areas as “streetcar suburbs.” 

However, the boulevard was never serviced by mass transit, therefore ensuring its place 

as the catalyst for the coming automobile-centered suburbanization of the entire 

northeast. Indeed, when the Transportation Committee of the Lindley Improvement 

Association proposed an extension of the Market-Frankford Elevated line to the 

Boulevard in 1920, it was objected by residents along the Boulevard as  

there has been no public demand by the people living along the Boulevard or  

adjacent to it, asking for a trolley line on the boulevard, but on the other hand  

there is almost unanimous objection to the defacement of the Boulevard by the  

placing of overhead wires and trolley tracks through the central portion of the  

grass plots, which is that portion of the Boulevard on which the taxpayer‟s 

money, amounting at this time to over three million dollars, has been expended 

for the embellishment and beautification which would all be destroyed, especially 

if the traction company were permitted to operate the old, broken down yellow 

cars.
22

               

 

The editorial continued that “it is generally understood that the transportation in 

vogue on boulevards in foreign countries is of the motor bus type, there not being any 

trolley tracks on the boulevards abroad.” Lastly, the editorial urged council not to grant 

                                                 
22 Bulletin (Philadelphia) 15 May 1920. 
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the franchise to any traction company as “it would be done solely in the interest of one 

corporation.”
23

 The Boulevard would be developed for the automobile. 

Although Tacony Creek Park had been placed on the city plan as early as 1907, it 

was not acquired by the city and placed under the care of the commission until that 

portion of the Boulevard was developed. The same day that Mayor Moore announced a 

“new park for the boulevard” in February 1921, acquiring 250 acres of land on either side 

of the creek, council approved the extension of the Boulevard from Welsh Road northeast 

of Pennypack Park to the Poquessing Creek, the border between Philadelphia and Bucks 

County.
24

  

As the Boulevard developed for the automobile, the park commission came under 

serious fire from both the Keystone Automobile Club and a delegation of businessmen 

and farmers organizations of Philadelphia for their parking regulations as enforced by the 

Fairmount Park Guard. These organizations demanded that the commission‟s powers be 

removed and all parking regulations along the boulevard be rescinded. Eli Kirk Price, 

speaking on behalf of the commission, insisted that the commission regulations 

eliminated “hold-ups, objectionable spooning parties and have facilitated traffic greatly.” 

By declaring that residents could not park their cars in front of their houses and that 

prospective real estate buyers could not get out of their cars to view houses and lots for 

sale, the Keystone Automobile Club pushed the commission to adopt a compromise 

parking code covering residences, businesses, and unoccupied sections of the Boulevard. 

Therefore, the Boulevard became the first place in Philadelphia designed for parked 

automobiles by allowing for permit parking along its route, therefore further encouraging 

                                                 
23 Ibid.  
24 Evening Ledger (Philadelphia) 17 February 1921.  
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its growth as an automobile-centered “open air” suburb, which the CPA believed would 

cure the ills surrounding the crowded downtown.
25

  

Mayor J. Hampton Moore invoked the spirit of Theodore Roosevelt at the 

dedication, given at the intersection of Broad Street and the Northeast Boulevard, stating:  

Philadelphia has constructed here a great boulevard; it is a credit to the builders, 

and a connecting link between Philadelphia, the first American city, and New 

York, the great metropolis where Roosevelt was born. The Mayor and council 

have deemed it fitting that this thoroughfare, destined to unite the two great cities 

and to connect up the highways of the country, shall be dedicated upon this the 

natal day of the great American, to whose honor we are assembled.26  

      

This “gorgeous esplanade leading up to the northeast gates of the City of Brotherly Love” 

with its “beckoning invitation to play and disport in the clean, cool sweep of air and the 

radiant sunshine here within a half hour‟s run of the city‟s noise and traffic” was being 

compromised from the unsightly buildings, shacks and billboards placed along it.
27

 By 

1922 the Boulevard was being criticized by the press due to the avenue of “hot dog 

emporiums” placed along its stretches by vendors who had struck deals with private 

property owners whose homes fronted the boulevard. 

 
Figure 62. “Hot-dog stations, instead of modern art temples, line our beautiful Roosevelt Boulevard,” 1922 (Fairmount Park Historic 

Resource Archive). 

                                                 
25 Inquirer (Philadelphia) 6 April 1922. 
26 Public Ledger (Philadelphia) 3 September 1922. 
27 Ibid. 
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In response to the outcry by the press and public over the unsightly conditions 

along the boulevard, council confirmed the commission‟s power over the new “City 

Beautiful,” ruling by the 1923 building-height ordinance established for the parkway 

would apply to the Roosevelt Boulevard and Cobbs Creek Parkway. The press greatly 

supported the measure, as “these pleasure thoroughfares ought to be protected against all 

unsightly structures, even if no rigid regulations are enforced in other parts of the city … 

[if] the Park Commission uses a wide discretion the beauty of these two thoroughfares 

can be preserved without in any way interfering with the erection of any buildings which 

properly belong upon them.”
28

 By the early 1930s, photos of the boulevard show the 

clean lines of the planned roadway with no unsightly adornments and no mass transit. 

While the suburban style rowhouses were being erected with parking for automobiles, 

older farmhouses, soon to be cleared for development, exist separated from the main 

thoroughfare.  

  

The Rise of City and Regional Planning and the Demise of Commission Power 

Although the park commission‟s power over the planning, implementation, and 

aesthetics of the Parkway, the Boulevard, and park extensions into suburban counties was 

at an apex during the 1920s, the seeds of its demise were being sown by members of 

council and the mayor. Recommendations by the CPA continued to call attention to 

issues of environmental degradation, with their suggested means of “redemption.” 

Although many of its ideas were being implemented, the private body continued to 

encourage beautification of other sections of the city not controlled by the commission. In 

1924, the CPA published an influential work entitled The Redemption of the Lower 

                                                 
28 Evening Ledger (Philadelphia) 24 January 1923. 
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Figure 63. The Roosevelt Boulevard, 1931 (Fairmount Park Historic Resource Archive). 
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plans” as they requested a “comprehensive plan of street development . . . over the vast 

portion of which it has absolutely no control.” The commission‟s critical attitude to all 

designs sent to them was costing the city significant time and money, as projects could 

not be bid until the commission was satisfied.
36

 The beautification of the city, which the 

CPA and the commission had long fought for, was ironically being slowed down by their 

very power, according to city officials. 

In 1929, these perceived abuses of power finally led City Controller S. Davis 

Wilson to urge the state to pass a comprehensive zoning bill for Philadelphia. Stating that 

the “one-man control of the commission,” referring to Eli Kirk Price, “prevented the 

building of the proposed Hahnemann Hospital and College on the Parkway” while 

permitting “the erection of a stable in the Upper Wissahickon,” was evidence of a need 

for a separate, city-controlled body, he argued “we need this zoning bill enacted into a 

law to encourage the correction of abuses in the control of the erection of buildings by the 

Fairmount Park Commission . . . over city projects.”
37

  

By the time the city was using the commission‟s power to encourage the 

adaptation of a comprehensive zoning ordinance, citizen groups were forming to contest 

the power of the commission in their neighborhoods. Residents of Chestnut Hill and the 

newly formed Friends of the Wissahickon opposed the taking of ground for a stable, to be 

leased to the private Chestnut Hill Riding and Driving Club, in the Upper Wissahickon. 

Price‟s brother, John Sergeant Price, had sold the land to the city to be used as parkland 

and then Eli Price approved the erection of a stable to be used by a private entity. 

Whereas matters of the commission‟s power prior to this were between the city and the 

                                                 
36 Record (Philadelphia) 2 August 1928. 
37 Public Ledger (Philadelphia) 19 March 1929. 
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commission, now private residents were beginning to take the commission to court over 

its abuse of power. However, Price ignored the suit over the stable and cast the deciding 

vote allowing its construction. The residents of Chestnut Hill, several of them powerful 

members of the elite, began to push for council to enact zoning at that time.
38

 

In June 1929, Mackey successfully created the first City Planning Commission 

(CPC), authorized by ordinance of council, and the City Zoning Commission (CZC) by 

an act of the legislature. The CPC‟s first order of business was to create a ten-year plan 

for the city‟s development; while it also would oversee all proposals for the business 

district, its primary mission would be “the beautification of the city through a supervision 

of building construction.”
39

 The CZC‟s members were to provide a zoning ordinance for 

submission to council. The first head of the planning commission, as selected by the 

mayor, was Joseph Widener, the art patron who had hired Jacques Greber to beautify the 

plans for the parkway, but who was not a member of the park commission. Indeed, 

seeming to know that its power was being challenged, the Fairmount Park Commission 

held up its appointee for months, stalling the mayor in the completion of his list. The 

subjects of study for the CPC, as outlined by the mayor, included parks and the 

recreational system in the city, removing the original park commission from being the 

primary agency in those matters. In addition, the CPC‟s recommendations would trump 

any debates of the commission over matters outside of its jurisdiction, such as railways, 

bridges, and city projects, which they were accused of delaying. While Price was finally 

given a seat on the CPC, the Park Commission‟s official representative was its president, 

E.T. Stotesbury.  

                                                 
38 Record (Philadelphia) 12 July 1929. 
39 Inquirer (Philadelphia) 13 June 1929. 
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In addition to the creation of the CPC and the CZC, the economic depression that 

began to manifest itself throughout the city also curtailed the commission‟s power. Parks 

were always expensive, and city officials began to attack the commission for 

expenditures related to park improvements dating back to the construction of the Parkway 

and Boulevard years prior. The Law Department and the city controller issued what they 

called a “swollen” list of expenditures, totaling $13 million, composed principally of park 

and parkway acquisitions. Controller Wilson, the principal figure behind the creation of 

planning and zoning bodies, demanded the abolition of the commission because “they are 

a law unto themselves.” The Law Department added that “more than three-fourths of our 

indebtedness is caused by the Park Commission.” Controller Wilson agreed, stating: “The 

Park Commission gives us the greatest trouble … they should be wiped out. Council and 

the mayor, the elected representatives of the people, should be responsible. The Park 

Commission should be abolished.” Councilman McCrossan further agreed: “the Park 

Commission wants land and gives us an estimate. When the land is taken it is found the 

cost is three times the estimate. If that keeps up we will always be in financial 

difficulty.”
40

  

By the early 1930s, the commission found itself embroiled in several lawsuits 

questioning its power. A court ruling by Judge Stern over whether a property owner 

could erect a service station on the edge of the Boulevard, stated that the commissioners 

power was arbitrary, giving them “the absolute right to say whether or not a building 

shall be erected or altered. Such a grant of power is without precedent in law. The 

commissioners may, in their unbridled exercise of power, refuse permits to buildings that 

                                                 
40 Ibid., 25 February 1930. 
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are not built of marble, or that are more than two stories high, or are less than twenty 

stories high, or are not built in a particular shape which the Commissioners may think 

desirable. They need give no reasons for their action. It requires no elaboration of 

argument to come to the conclusion that such grant of power is wholly invalid.”
41

 Of 

course, the commission was responsible for the necessity of the service station to begin 

with, having planned and regulated the area as an auto centric suburb. 

In addition, the Wharton family, which had bequeathed Fisher Park in the Oak 

Lane section of the city in 1911, brought suit against the commission to recover the 

property, stating that it was not being properly maintained. The commission retorted that 

it did not have the funds to maintain the park. Of course, this could not have come at a 

worse time for the commission, as it was expending huge amounts of taxpayer money to 

acquire new park land while it could not maintain existing land.
42

 Fortunately, for the 

commission, the Wharton family dropped their suit.    

By April 1931, the city controller‟s office introduced a bill to the legislature to 

completely abolish the commission. The bill provided for a new municipal department of 

parks, headed by a director who would be a member of the mayor‟s cabinet. Again 

bringing up the financial crises facing the city, the main criticism leveled at the 

commission was “based on its policy of condemning land for park purposes without 

taking into consideration whether there is money to pay for the property or not. As a 

result the city is laboring under a heavy burden placed upon it by a body that is 

responsible to no one but itself.” This argument was not lost on Mayor Mackey, who 

agreed with the controller that the cost of acquiring park land, by now totaling $12 

                                                 
41 Ibid., 8 May 1930. 
42 Ibid., 12 June 1930. 
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million dollars in taxpayer funds, was a “huge deficit for 1931 … and not a small part of 

our troubles have been caused by the piling up of mandamuses. Here we are again faced 

with the evil of decentralization of government.” The remarks of the mayor were 

followed by the controller: “I wonder what the taxpayers of Philadelphia think of the 

city‟s extending its park system at a cost of $53,000 an acre in view of the difficulty 

confronting them in paying their taxes in this period of depression?”
43

 The press printed 

the expenditures of the park commission, alongside other expenditures detailing the cost 

the commission was laying on the taxpayer. 

Declaring that the city was facing a budget crisis, the mayor continued his 

onslaught of the commission, stating that there would be no more funds for parks since 

some of the land purchased by the commission had yet to be paid for. By October 1931, 

the financial epidemic reached such levels that a large homeless encampment sprung up 

within sight of the recently completed Philadelphia Museum of Art. No amount of debate 

within the halls of political power could have made a stronger statement against the 

expenditures and power of the commission than the headline: “Homeless Idle Camping 

Like Hoboes in Shadow of City‟s $18,000,000 Museum,” with accompanying image 

showing the encampment directly south of the building.
44

 While the commission would 

continue to exist for almost eighty more years, it never regained the power it enjoyed 

before this time period. As the city sank further into depression during the 1930s, the 

Works Progress Administration did provide much needed improvements to existing parks 

such as Wissahickon Valley Park and Pennypack Creek Park, but the commission would 

never again control the development of entire sections of the city, ceding its power to 

                                                 
43 Record (Philadelphia) 27 May 1931. 
44 Ibid 13 October 1931. 
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acquire and plan parks to planning and zoning bodies fully under the control of city 

government.  
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Conclusion 

 

Prior to the creation of an official city planning agency, park advocates, including 

the Fairmount Park Commission and the private, citizen-led City Parks Association 

(CPA), were the de facto planning body for the city of Philadelphia. Between 1854 and 

1929, park planners navigated the perils of Philadelphia‟s political system, successfully 

pressuring the city and state governments to acquire open public spaces for Philadelphia 

residents. As the majority of these protected spaces surrounded the city‟s rivers and 

creeks, park planners were also proto-environmentalists, reclaiming vital industrial land 

in an attempt to protect the city‟s water supply from pollution. The planning of 

Philadelphia‟s park system in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries had a 

tremendous impact on the spatial layout of the city and the interaction of its citizens with 

the natural world.  In a time of rapid industrialization and population growth — when 

Philadelphia was known as the “Workshop of the World” due to the scale and diversity of 

its industrial sector — park planners, convinced that the growth and development of 

Philadelphia necessitated a large park system, were the primary group involved in the 

nascent form of city planning.  

By the 1930s, the park-focused planning of Philadelphia touched every section of 

the city except the heavily industrialized and developed Delaware River wards. This was 

a result of several generations of citizens working to create a park system accessible for 

every city resident. In many respects, park planners followed founder William Penn‟s 

vision of a green country town, in opposition to the rapid industrial development of once 

open lands. Convinced that government owed citizens, especially its most vulnerable 

ones, a right to escape the gritty city and connect to nature, park activists reclaimed the 
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rapidly disappearing natural world for both environmental and humanitarian reasons, 

shaping the modern city of the twentieth century in the process. Philadelphia‟s park 

system remains unique among American urban park systems because of its early 

emphasis on environmental protection. 

The earliest attempts to develop a large-scale public park in Philadelphia resulted 

from state intervention in Philadelphia‟s affairs. The development of the park system, 

with its emphasis on environmental protection, was never a priority for members of City 

Council. It simply would not have occurred were it not for elite Philadelphians gaining 

considerable power in Harrisburg. Early park planners Eli Kirk Price and Morton 

McMichael, responsible for the consolidation of Philadelphia in 1854 by an act of the 

state legislature, immediately capitalized on their newfound control over the area 

formerly known as the Spring Garden District, located along the east bank of the 

Schuylkill River. They utilized the existing Lemon Hill estate, set aside in 1844 to protect 

the city‟s water supply from industrial pollution north of the Fairmount Water Works, as 

the site of Philadelphia‟s first large-scale public park. Although blocked on many fronts 

by unwilling politicians on council to acquire a large-scale public park, they successfully 

held a competition for a park design in 1859. Much of this original plan was never 

implemented as council members lacked political will to properly fund land acquisition 

and improvements. For this reason, park planners again relied on the state legislature to 

create the Fairmount Park Commission, the independent agency that would control 

Philadelphia‟s park system from its creation in 1867 until 2010, a period of 143 years. In 

addition, early park planners relied on their influence with the state legislature to set the 

original boundaries of Fairmount Park, much of which was actively used industrial land. 
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By casting aside any interference from council, which they believed would seriously 

undermine the process of acquiring valuable industrial land along the banks of the 

Schuylkill River and Wissahickon Creek, the early planning of Philadelphia‟s park 

system was insulated from local political influence. 

The first generation of commissioners and their staff found abundant success as 

they utilized their skills in real estate law, engineering, and landscape design to begin the 

massive undertaking of creating Fairmount Park. The first president of the commission, 

Morton McMichael, owner and editor of the progressive newspaper the North American, 

continuously advocated for the importance of park planning. However, the problems of 

implementing improvements once land was acquired always revolved around budgetary 

matters. By removing council from the park planning process, while relying on its 

allocation for all funding, all park improvements past the planning and acquisition stages 

remained a struggle. For this reason, later generations of park planners, led by the CPA, 

and learning lessons from the park‟s creation, attempted to stay politically neutral. This 

tactic paid off, and by the early twentieth century the major success for the CPA was the 

placement of three large, watershed parks on the city plan: Cobbs Creek, Tacony Creek 

and Pennypack Creek, all of which would complement the original mission of the park: 

to protect the environmental resource of the water supply while secondarily connecting 

citizens with nature. In addition, the CPA was also instrumental in the development of the 

Fairmount (Benjamin Franklin) Parkway and the Northeast (Roosevelt) Boulevard.  

The Benjamin Franklin Parkway cemented Center City‟s relationship to the park, 

allowing residents ease of access to not only Fairmount Park but also Wissahickon Valley 

Park all the way to the county line, thereby connecting the downtown area with the 
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Figure 66. Map comparing Philadelphia‟s Park system in 1888 (16 parks), when the City Parks Association formed, with 1915 (83 

parks). The 1888 map shows Fairmount Park on the banks of the Schuylkill and Wissahickon Valley Park to the north. The 1915 map 
shows recently acquired watershed parks of Cobbs Creek (southwest border), Tacony Creek (lower Northeast) and Pennypack Creek 

(central Northeast). In addition, the Benjamin Franklin Parkway, connecting the heart of center city to Fairmount Park and the 

Roosevelt Boulevard, connecting Hunting Park in North Philadelphia to Tacony Creek and Pennypack Creek is shown as a park 
boulevard (Fairmount Park Historic Resource Archive). 

 

reclaimed natural world through the two largest parks in Philadelphia. Indeed, 

Wissahickon Valley Park, given National Natural Landmark status by the Department of 

the Interior in 1964, is one of the few nationally recognized natural areas connected 

directly by park drives to the seat of a major municipal government and the majority of a 

large urban population.  
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For much of its history, the usage of the Parkway languished as the automobile 

dominated the alignment; while it was certainly used for special events and public 

gatherings, it did not always function as the original planners envisioned. However, by 

the early twenty-first century major improvements were undertaken by the City, the 

commission, and the private, Center City District (CCD), with funding from the federal, 

state and local government, to complete the vision of the parkway. These improvements 

included the revival of Logan Circle‟s Aviator Park and Sister Cities Plaza; the relocation 

of the Barnes Foundation from suburban Lower Merion Township to the parkway; the 

restoration of the Rodin Museum; improvements and additions to the Central Branch of 

the Free Library of Philadelphia; the opening of the Perelman Building, the Philadelphia 

Museum of Art‟s annex; improvements to JFK Plaza (LOVE Park); and a complete 

streetscape improvement project, with new trees, landscaping, traffic calming, and 

sidewalks, to enliven the parkway as Philadelphia‟s center of civic space. In addition, 

with the revival of bicycling for both commuting and recreation in the late twentieth and 

early twenty-first centuries, the parkway became an important and meaningful connection 

between Center City, Fairmount Park, and Philadelphia‟s northwestern neighborhoods of 

East Falls, Roxborough, Manayunk, Mt. Airy, and Chestnut Hill. The vision of 

connecting City Hall, the center of political power, to the Philadelphia Museum of Art, 

the center of cultural power, with Fairmount Park remains a goal the City continues to 

strive to achieve in the twenty-first century.   

 Meanwhile, the Roosevelt Boulevard effectively changed the entire development 

of much of Northeast Philadelphia from an open area of farms, small communities, and 

single family homes to an automobile-centered community, connected by a main 
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roadway originally intended to connect residents to large watershed park space. The 

planning of the great 

 

 

 

 
Figure 67. The Benjamin Franklin Parkway, 1999. Logan Circle, one of William Penn‟s original squares, appears in the center of the 

image while the Philadelphia Museum of Art rises on Fairmount, the former site of the reservoirs of the Fairmount Water Works. The 
green, open spaces of Fairmount Park span out behind the museum, allowing citizens access to continuous green space all the way to 

the edge of the city through Wissahickon Valley Park (Greater Philadelphia Tourism and Marketing Corporation). 
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northeast boulevard would not have occurred were it not for the acquisition of the large, 

watershed parks of Tacony Creek and Pennypack Creek. Originally, those park spaces 

were intended to anchor the communities surrounding them, providing residents of a 

growing metropolis with connections to the natural world, while protecting the water 

supply. Park planners envisioned the boulevard and the watershed parks of the northeast 

as a way to reverse the dominant grid-patterned development of Philadelphia by 

protecting two large creek valleys from being filled in and built upon. They believed that 

they could correct the problems associated with the gritty, overcrowded neighborhoods 

surrounding the Delaware River by utilizing open spaces and parks to encourage 

development. Once the boulevard was completed from North Philadelphia‟s Hunting 

Park to Pennypack Park in the central Northeast, the park commission gained control 

over its management and did not allow mass transit on the boulevard. In an effort to keep 

the boulevard free from the perceived nuisance of trolley tracks and overhead wiring, the 

park commission encouraged the development of Northeast Philadelphia as an 

automobile-centered community. While park space would unite the planning of Northeast 

Philadelphia, in practice the area would be developed somewhat disconnected from their 

park spaces as access into them from an auto-centric neighborhood was poor.  

 The development of the automobile-centered neighborhoods surrounding the 

boulevard mirrored much of the post-World War II city as planned by the Philadelphia 

City Planning Commission. Under executive director Edmund Bacon (1949-1972), the 

planning commission focused on the redevelopment of older sections of the city, the 

creation of new automobile-centered communities such as Eastwick in the Southwest and 

Parkwood in the Far Northeast, and the development of an expressway system. In many 
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respects, Bacon ignored the parkway and boulevard ideals of the earlier generation of 

park planners, replacing it with an expressway system, part of which utilized the largest 

piece of open space in the city, West Fairmount Park. In fact, the Schuylkill Expressway 

 
Figure 68. The Roosevelt Boulevard near Tacony Creek Park, 1931. Note the new housing along the border of the outer lanes, while 

an older farmhouse still stands to the right. The park space with entranceway is to the left of the image, disconnected from the 

automobile-centered development occurring along the boulevard (Fairmount Park Historic Resource Archive).   

 

 (I-76) from City Line Avenue to the Fairmount Water Works is almost completely 

within the confines of Fairmount Park, essentially reversing the earlier goals of park 

planners of using parkways to get people into the park. Instead, post-war planning used 

city owned park land to get people through the park as quickly as possible, connecting 

suburban communities to Center City‟s employment centers, restaurants and nightlife, 

West Philadelphia‟s University City, or South Philadelphia‟s airport and sports complex. 
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The legacy of this era in many respects is the dominance of an automobile-centric city, 

only partially built as Bacon planned it.  

In the early twenty-first century, thousands of Philadelphians and residents of 

suburban communities are in Fairmount Park at any given time of the day or night, 

perhaps without even realizing it. More than likely, they are stuck in traffic along one of 

the two main north-south traffic arteries of the region. This is the legacy of the failures of 

post-war planning, which in many respects ignored or was in direct opposition to earlier 

park planning. To Bacon, park planning always centered on the automobile first as he 

envisioned parks in planned communities to serve the needs of the surrounding residents, 

not the entire city.  The triumph of an automobile- centered society has partially been the 

triumph of the individualistic society removed from shared communal values necessary 

for cities to thrive. The expressway system through Fairmount Park not only removed 

citizens from the natural world with which early park planners tried so desperately to 

reconnect them, but also effectively removed the interaction of the city‟s residents with 

one another, something necessary for a city‟s survival. Like Robert Moses in New York 

City, Bacon envisioned a city dominated by the automobile. Fortunately, several of the 

expressways were never constructed, or the human scale of the city, which attracts so 

many in the present day, would have been permanently altered or even removed.    

The dominance of the planning commission in the twentieth century effectively 

removed the park commission and its advocates from their original role as city planners. 

Instead, the era between 1930 and the demise of the commission in 2010 would be 

marked by minimal land acquisitions while the poorly funded commission struggled to 
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maintain its existing land. Although the federal government contributed many 

improvements to the park system, such as trails, pavilions, and picnic areas in the   

 
Figure 69. 1961 Expressway Plan, Philadelphia City Planning Commission. The existing Schuylkill Expressway, to the west of the 

river, enters the city just north of the planned Five Mile Loop, which connects to Roosevelt Boulevard,  and remains within the 

confines of West Fairmount Park until just north of the Vine Street Expressway. Note the Roosevelt Boulevard is now also an 
expressway as planned by Bacon (Philadelphia City Planning Commission). 
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watershed parks during the Works Progress Administration (WPA) era of the 1930s, the 

park commission continued to be starved by council on much needed budgetary 

allocations for the remainder of their existence. 

 The Philadelphia Home Rule Charter of 1951, intended as a reform measure for a 

corrupt city government, placed the powers and duties of the Fairmount Park 

Commission under the newly chartered Philadelphia Department of Recreation.  

Although the commission still retained power over park lands, they were further removed 

from making any decisions regarding public spaces with this political maneuver. The era 

from the early 1950s to the late 1970s was the pinnacle of the recreation movement in 

Philadelphia, as new recreation centers and pools opened across the city‟s neighborhoods, 

presenting council members with opportunities to directly serve their constituents. 

Meanwhile, the maintenance of the park system became problematic as staff and 

monetary resources dwindled. In 1972, the independent Fairmount Park Guard were 

merged into the Philadelphia Police Department by former Police Commissioner and then 

Mayor Frank Rizzo, effectively ending the long standing tradition of direct police 

supervision over park lands. This lead to the perceived and sometimes correct view of 

park spaces as dangerous, and in many neighborhoods park usage waned. By the late 

1980s and early 1990s, the Philadelphia Daily News began to criticize the park 

commission, accusing them of overseeing “acres of neglect.”  It was hard for the 

commission to be held completely responsible for this as staffing levels and funding for 

the park system peaked in 1971, never rebounding. 
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To overcome those obstacles, park advocates, commissioners, and staff began 

relying on sources of outside funding, including federal and state grants and increasingly, 

private funding, to fill the gaps in their budget. With the creation of the Natural Lands 

Restoration and Environmental Education Program, partially funded by the private 

William Penn foundation in 1997, park staff began to work to restore park lands, 

particularly those large, natural areas of the original watershed parks and aimed to 

reconnect citizens with the park‟s vast natural resources through volunteerism, clean-up 

efforts, native species restoration, and education efforts.  

In the early twenty-first century, as environmental awareness, bicycling, physical 

fitness and a desire to reconnect to natural areas continued to grow, the park system was 

poised to undergo a rebirth. Concerted efforts by park staff to improve the large 

watershed parks  took shape as park advocates and the commission began to form public-

private partnerships to restore existing park land, acquire new park space, and reconnect 

citizens to existing parks in the process. The completion of much of the Schuylkill River 

Trail in Philadelphia, part of a regional  recreation trail connecting Philadelphia to 

Schuylkill County, encouraged park usage along the river, drawing new residents to 

Center City and the neighborhoods bordering the river. The park undertook efforts to 

improve all watershed parks, Cobbs Creek, Tacony Creek, Pennypack Creek, and 

Wissahickon Valley Park, with new trails and gateways into the park, encouraging 

citizens to once again connect to the natural world. All of this was a legacy of the vision 

of not only the original park planners and advocates of the park system but, indeed, 

echoed the “green, country town” vision of William Penn, to make Philadelphia‟s public 
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spaces true green spaces within the gritty city and connect its citizens with the natural 

world within the heart of the nation‟s fifth largest, and one of its oldest, urban centers.              

 

 

 
Figure 70. Recreation along the Schuylkill River Trail, 2011. This space, the area which the CPA worked to “redeem” in the 1920s, is 

now part of Schuylkill Banks, a park created in 2001. This park space is cooperatively managed for the City by the non-profit 

Schuylkill River Development Corporation and Philadelphia Parks & Recreation, an example of successful public-private partnerships 

needed to fill gaps in the park‟s budget (Schuylkill River Development Corporation). 
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